### NO. 69413-8-I

## COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

### JACKSON MIKA,

Respondent,

v.

GREG STEVENS, an individual, husband and wife, and their community,

Appellant.

### BRIEF OF APPELLANT GREG STEVENS

Jeffrey P. Downer, WSBA No. 12625 Peter E. Sutherland, WSBA No. 17745 Pamela J. Devet, WSBA No. 32882 Of Attorneys for Appellant Greg Stevens

LEE SMART, P.S., INC. 1800 One Convention Place 701 Pike Street Seattle, WA 98101-3929 (206) 624-7990



###

III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE						
	A.	Mr. Mika complains of a gunshot wound ocurring at Jillian's Billiards Club in Seattle, Washington3					
	B.	Mr. Stevens is not a proper defendant					
		Mr. Stevens has only sporadic contacts with Washington					
		2. Mr. Stevens did not establish or oversee policy for security at JBC, nationally or in Seattle4					
		3. Mr. Stevens did not know about the event5					
	C.	Mr. Mika sued Mr. Stevens individually6					
	D.	Mr. Mika served Mr. Stevens under the Washington's long arm statute in Nevada.					
	E.	The trial court denied Mr. Stevens's summary judgment motion and sua sponte entered summary judgment <i>against</i> him as to jurisdiction					
	F.	This Court granted discretionary review finding probable error under RAP 2.3(b)(2)					
IV.	SUMN	MARY OF ARGUMENT9					
V.	ARGUMENT10						
	A.	Mr. Stevens, as a resident of Kentucky and then Arizona, has a due process right not to be subject to the jurisdiction of the courts in the State of Washington					
	В.	Mr. Mika must show Washington Courts have personal jurisdiction over Mr. Stevens					
		1. The standard of review is <i>de novo</i>					
		2. A plaintiff must establish personal jurisdiction12					

	C.	Stever of oth	ns by co er defer	onsidering the collective Washington contacts adants or consider the general business s corporate employer		
	D.	The test for asserting general personal jurisdiction is an exacting standard that Mr. Mika cannot meet as to Mr. Stevens				
	E.			ot demonstrate that the court has specific diction over Mr. Stevens17		
			1.	Mr. Stevens's due process rights were not adequately considered by the trial court17		
			2.	Mr. Stevens has not personally availed himself of the privilege of conducting business activities in Washington20		
		3.	the sp Washi	ising jurisdiction over Mr. Stevens based on oradic quality and nature of his limited ington contacts would offend the traditional as of fair play and substantial justice23		
	F.		_	statute does not confer jurisdication even in f due process consideratons25		
		1.		tevens is not personally transacting business the state		
			a.	Under Washington law, Mr. Stevens's allegedly tortious conduct could not have "occurred" in-state27		
	G.	attorne	ey fees	ould award Mr. Stevens his reasonable and costs expended in bringing this motion .28.18530		
VI.	. CONCLUSION					

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES Table of Cases

Table of Cases
Page(s)  Cases  Bancroft & Masters, Inc. v. August Nat'l, Inc., 223 F.3d 1082, 1085-86
(9th Cir. 2000)
Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz, 471 U.S. 462, 476, 105 S. Ct. 2174, 85 L. Ed. 2d 528 (1985)
Cannon Mfg. Co. v. Cudahy Packing Co., 267 U.S. 333, 336, 45 S. Ct. 250, 251, 69 L. Ed. 634 (1925)20, 27
Colombia, S.A. v. Hall, 466 U.S. 408, 416, 104 S. Ct. 1868, 80 L. Ed. 2d 404 (1984)
Dam v. Gen. Electric Co., 111 F. Supp. 342, 345, 348 (E.D. Wash. 1953)20, 27
Escude Cruz v. Ortho Pharm. Corp., 619 F.2d 902, 905 (1st Cir. 1980)
Goodyear Dunlop Tires Operations, S.A. v. Brown, 564 U.S, 131 S. Ct. 2846, 2850, 180 L. Ed. 2d 796 (2011)10, 15
Int'l Shoe Co. v. Wash., 326 U.S. 310, 316, 66 S. Ct. 154, 90 L. Ed. 95 (1945)
J. McIntyre Machinery, Ltd. v. Nicastro, 564 U.S, 131 S. Ct. 2780, 2787, 180 L. Ed. 2d 765 (2011)
Keeton v. Hustler Magazine, Inc., 465 U.S. 770, 781 n.13, 104 S. Ct. 1473, 79 L. Ed. 2d 790 (1984)
Rush v. Savchuk, 444 U.S. 320, 332, 100 S. Ct. 571, 62 L. Ed. 2d 516 (1980)
Satterfield v. Huebner, 474 U.S. 818, 106 S. Ct. 64, 88 L. Ed. 2d 52 (1985)
Schwarzenegger v. Fred Martin Motor Co., 374 F.3d 797, 801 (9th           Cir. 2004)
Transure, Inc. v. Marsh & McLennan. Inc., 766 F.2d 1297, 1299 (9th Cir. 1985)21
World-Wide Volkswagen Corp. v. Woodson, 444 U.S. 286, 295, 100 S. Ct. 559, 566, 62 L. Ed. 2d 490 (1980)))24

State Cases
Bartusch v. Oregon State Bd of Higher Educ, 131 Wn. App. 298, 126 P.3d 840 (2006)19
Craig v. Wash. Trust Bank, 94 Wn. App. 820, 976 P.2d 126 (1999)12
CTVC of Haw., Co. v. Shinawatra, 82 Wn. App. 699, 919 P.2d 1243 (1996), rev. denied, 131 Wn.2d 1020, 937 P.2d 1102 (1997)15, 20
Davis v. W. One Auto. Group, 140 Wn. App. 449, 166 P.3d 807 (2007), rev. denied, 163 Wn.2d 1040, 187 P.3d 269 (2008)
Freestone Capital Partners L.P. v. MKA Real Estate Opportunity Fund I, LLC, 155 Wn. App. 643, 230 P.3d 625 (2010)12, 17, 18, 19
Grange Ins. Ass'n v. State, 110 Wn.2d 752, 757 P.2d 933 (1988), cert. denied, 490 U.S. 1004, 109 S. Ct. 1638, 104 L. Ed. 2d 154 (1989)
Harbison v. Garden Valley Outfitters, Inc., 69 Wn. App. 590, 849 P.2d 669 (1993)
Hartley v. Am. Contract Bridge League, 61 Wn. App. 600, 812 P.2d 109, rev. denied, 117 Wn.2d 1027, 820 P.2d 511 (1991)15, 16
Hein v. Taco Bell, Inc., 60 Wn. App. 325, 803 P.2d 329 (1991)13, 16
Hewitt v. Hewitt, 78 Wn. App. 447, 896 P.2d 1312 (1995), rev. denied, 133 Wn.2d 1030, 950 P.2d 477 (1988)18, 30
Huebner v. Sales Promotion, Inc., 38 Wn. App. 66, 684 P.2d 752 (1984)
Im Ex Trading Co. v. Raad, 92 Wn. App. 529, 963 P.2d 952 (1998), rev. denied, 137 Wn.2d 1023, 980 P.2d 1280 (1999)13, 16
MBM Fisheries v. Bollinger Shipyard, 60 Wn. App. 414, 804 P.2d 627 (1991)
Morgan v. Kingen, 166 Wn.2d 526, 210 P.3d 995 (2009)12
Perry v. Hamilton, 51 Wn. App. 936, 756 P.2d 150, rev. denied, 111 Wn.2d 1017 (1988
Oertel v. Bradford Trust Co., 33 Wn. App. 331, 655 P.2d 1165 (1982)
Raymond v. Robinson, 104 Wn. App. 627, 15 P.3d 697 (2001)16, 17, 20
Scott Fetzer Co. v. Weeks, 122 Wn.2d 141, 859 P.2d 1210 (1993)30

SeaHAVN, Ltd. v. Glitnir Bank, 154 Wn. App. 550, 226 P.3d 141 (2010)
Shute v. Carnival Cruise Lines, 113 Wn.2d 763, 783 P.2d 78 (1989), rev'd on other grounds, Carnival Cruise Lines, Inc. v. Shute, 499 U.S. 585, 111 S. Ct. 1522, 113 L. Ed. 2d 622 (1991)
Torgerson v. One Lincoln Tower, LLC, 166 Wn.2d 510, 210 P.3d 318 (2009)30
Tyee Const. Co. v. Dulien Steel Prods., Inc., 62 Wn.2d 106, 381 P.2d 245 (1963)
Walker v. Bonney-Watson Co., 64 Wn. App. 27, 823 P.2d 518 (1992)13
Statutes
RCW 4.28.080(10)
RCW 4.28.18518, 26, 30
RCW 4.28.185(1)26
RCW 4.28.185(1)(a)
RCW 4.28.185(1)(b)
RCW 4.28.185(5)
Rules and Regulations
CR 56(c)12
CR 56(c)(12)8
RAP 2.38
DAD 2 2/1-//2)

### I. INTRODUCTION

Jackson Mika sued Greg Stevens personally for an injury sustained in Seattle, Washington, even though Mr. Stevens is a resident of Reno, Nevada and had no personal involvement in the events that caused the injury. Mr. Stevens moved for summary judgment, asserting the court had no jurisdiction over him as a Nevada resident. Mr. Stevens also requested attorney fees under the Washington Long-arm statute. After the superior court denied summary judgment, this court granted Mr. Stevens's motion for discretionary review. CP 505-07; 513-14.

The basis for this appeal is that the court improperly denied summary judgment when Mr. Mika produced no evidence to establish jurisdiction under the Washington Long-arm statute or under theories of general or specific jurisdiction. CP 71-95. Mr. Mika attempts to base jurisdiction on argument and theory rather than fact regarding Mr. Stevens's role in the events leading to his injury. This is not sufficient to confer jurisdiction to the courts of the State of Washington.

### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

### Assignments of Error

 The superior court erred in denying Mr. Stevens's motion for summary judgment as there is no basis to assert general jurisdiction over him. The superior court erred in denying Mr. Stevens's motion for summary judgment as there is no basis to assert specific jurisdiction over him as to events leading to Mr. Mika's injuries.

The superior court erred in denying summary judgment where the Washington Long-arm statute, RCW 4.28.185(1)(b) does not extend jurisdiction over Mr. Stevens pursuant to the tort prong of the statute.

The superior court erred in denying summary judgment when the Washington Long-arm statute does not extend jurisdiction over Mr. Stevens for transacting business as defined by the statute, RCW 4.28.185(1)(a).

2. The superior court erred in denying an award of attorney fees to Mr. Stevens under RCW 4.28.185(5).

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. Whether the superior court committed reversible error in denying Mr. Stevens's motion to dismiss all claims against him, where:
- a. The record fails to show that Mr. Stevens individually was carrying on substantial and continuous business in the State of Washington and is therefore subject to the exercise of general jurisdiction;
- b. the record fails to show that Mr. Stevens purposefully committed some act or consummated a transaction connected to Mr. Mika's

- allegations of personal injury; and
- c. the assumption of jurisdiction by the State of Washington offends notions of fair play and substantial justice given the quality, nature, and extent of Mr. Stevens's activities in this state.
- 2. Whether the court should award reasonable attorney fees to Mr. Stevens under Washington's Long-Arm Statute, RCW 4.28.185(5), where the record fails to establish long-arm jurisdiction under that statute, and that statute expressly authorizes such a fee award.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Mr. Mika complains of a gunshot wound occurring at Jillian's Billiards Club in Seattle, Washington.

Mr. Mika claims he sustained a gunshot wound on March 21, 2010 at Jillian's Billiards Club (Jillian's) on Westlake Avenue in Seattle, Washington. CP 24, ¶¶ 24-25. Mr. Mika posits Jillian's should have had heightened security in place that evening because Jillian's was playing "hip hop" music and should have foreseen a more violent crowd. CP 26 (¶ 31). Mr. Mika alleged negligence against multiple defendants, including the restaurant, JBC of Seattle, Inc., d/b/a Jillian's Billiards Club, and the parent company, JBC Entertainment, Inc. *Id*.

### B. Mr. Stevens is not a proper defendant.

At the time of Mr. Mika's claimed injury, Jillian's was owned and operated by defendant JBC of Seattle, a Delaware corporation. CP 97 5531073.doc

(¶ 5). In turn, JBC of Seattle was owned by defendant JBC Entertainment, a Delaware corporation headquartered in Kentucky. *Id.* (¶ 6). Mr. Stevens was a corporate officer at JBC Entertainment, the parent. CP 96 (¶¶ 1-2). JBC Entertainment partially owned seven restaurants around the country. CP 116 (5:20-23). Mr. Mika knew he was suing foreign defendants, among them Mr. Stevens. CP 103-104 (¶¶ 2, 4, 13, 15).

## Mr. Stevens had only sporadic and minimal contacts with Washington.

In March 2010, Mr. Stevens lived in Louisville, Kentucky, and he has since moved to Reno, Nevada. CP 97 ( $\P$ 2). He has never lived in Washington nor had an in-state office or mailing address. *Id.* ( $\P$ 3). In the past decade, he has traveled to this state only a half-dozen times. *Id.* Other than routine sales or hotel taxes, he has not paid taxes here. *Id.* He has never been in contact with Mr. Mika, who apparently lives in Washington. CP 103 ( $\P$ 1). Mr. Stevens does not have a bank account or any other personal or real property in Washington. CP 97 ( $\P$ 3).

## 2. Mr. Stevens did not establish or oversee policy for security at JBC, nationally or in Seattle.

Mr. Stevens was responsible for JBC Entertainment's overall profitability, not the day-to-day operations of the subsidiary companies running various restaurants around the country. CP 97-98 (¶ 8). Mr. Stevens relied heavily on corporate staff, regional managers, general

managers, and finally restaurant-level management to run those business operations at the parent and subsidiary companies. *Id.* (¶ 8); CP 123-126. Mr. Stevens's authority to hire, fire, and train employees extended only to corporate employees at JBC Entertainment, not employees at subsidiary companies like JBC of Seattle. CP 98 (¶ 9); CP 117-18. The record is undisputed that he was not responsible for either (a) JBC of Seattle's policies and procedure, or (b) any security policies. CP 98 (¶ 10); CP 131.

### 3. Mr. Stevens did not know about the event.

The President and Chief Operating Officer of JBC Entertainment, Mr. Tyler Warfield, oversaw the subsidiary companies' operations. CP 140-41 (dep. pp. 14, 40). Events at Jillian's were organized at the local level and typically involved corporate events with companies like Microsoft. CP 121-22. That is, Mr. Stevens had no hand in organizing or approving events at Jillian's. *Id*.

One of the assistant managers at Jillian's, defendant Michael Knudsen, arranged the event on the evening in question with a outside promoter, Marquis Holmes, but Mr. Knudsen never informed any of his supervisors. CP 148 (dep. pp. 32-33). He had been told not to host events without a supervisor's approval, but he did so anyway. CP 148, 318-19 (¶¶ 14-15). Accordingly, this information was not passed up the corporate chain of command. CP 129, 148. That is, even if Mr. Stevens had been

responsible for events at Jillian's, he did not know beforehand that Jillian's was hosting an unauthorized event. *Id.* 

### C. Mr. Mika sued Mr. Stevens individually.

Mr. Mika filed his initial complaint for damages on January 5, 2011, alleging, *inter alia*, that JBC of Seattle and JBC Entertainment Holdings were liable for injuries suffered at Jillian's on March 21, 2010. Mr. Mika also named Michael Knudsen for his personal involvement in the event occurring when he was injured. However, Mr. Mika did not initially name Mr. Stevens as a defendant.

On February 15, 2012, Mr. Mika amended his complaint, adding Mr. Stevens as a defendant. He alleged that Mr. Stevens personally failed to protect him from the shooting, specifically by failing to foresee that "hip hop" music would lead to violence and therefore provide heightened security. CP 107-08 (¶¶ 31-32, 34-35).

## D. Mr. Mika served Mr. Stevens under the Washington's long-arm statute in Nevada.

Mr. Mika knew Mr. Stevens resides in Reno, Nevada. CP 155-56. His counsel filed an affidavit admitting that personal service was not possible in Washington. *Id.* (¶ 4). Mr. Stevens was served the summons and first amended complaint at his Reno home. CP 59-60, 307 (¶ 12).

# E. The trial court denied Mr. Stevens's summary judgment motion and sua sponte entered summary judgment against him as to jurisdiction.

On May 29, 2012, Mr. Stevens filed a motion for summary judgment, arguing the trial court had no personal jurisdiction over him. CP 71-95. He argued that as a non-resident, he was not subject to the jurisdiction of Washington, and he did not submit to that jurisdiction in his role as CEO and CFO of JBC Entertainment. *Id.* Mr. Mika responded at length, CP 340-490; and Mr. Stevens filed a reply. CP 491-501.

On July 20, 2012, the trial court heard oral argument and denied the motion but entered no written order until September 10, 2012. The court order of September 10 is entitled "Order Denying Defendant Stevens' Motion for Summary Judgment for Dismissal and for Attorney Fees and Costs." CP 505-507. The Order stated that the motion was "denied because the defendant, Greg Stevens, is subject to personal jurisdiction in this court." *Id.* (emphasis added). In essence, then, the trial court appears to have granted summary judgment in Mr. Mika's favor although (a) Mr. Mika had not sought summary judgment; and (b) the court had not permitted Mr. Stevens to respond before *sua sponte* making the adverse ruling.

## F. This Court granted discretionary review finding probable error under RAP 2.3(b)(2).

Mr. Stevens moved for discretionary review with this court, 5531073.doc

asserting that the trial court erred and that such error was immediately reviewable under RAP 2.3. CP 508-12. By written opinion dated February 22, 2013, a panel of this court granted discretionary review finding in a written opinion that Appellant satisfied the criteria of RAP 2.3(b)(2). In granting discretionary review, the panel reasoned:

It is undisputed, here, that JBC Entertainment conducted business and benefited from the protections of Washington laws. But, to acquire general jurisdiction through [the statute, Mika must establish that Stevens, personally, conducted continuous and substantial transactions with Washington. Despite Mika's claims, the record does not Stevens did not participate in the daily functioning of the subsidiaries or the restaurants like Jillian's. The President/[COO] of JBC Entertainment, as well as regional, general, and location managers oversaw the day-to-day aspects of the business operations. Stevens's position as CEO/CFO concerned the overall profitability of JBC Entertainment. The President/COO, not Stevens, was responsible for the procedures and policies of Jillian's in Seattle. JBC Entertainment, not Stevens, appears to have the systematic ties necessary for general jurisdiction.

\* \* \*

Mika provides little evidence beyond mere allegation to demonstrate that Stevens, as an individual, "purposely [did] some act or consummated some transaction in this state." Stevens does not appear to have conducted business that rises to the level of minimum contacts with Washington. As a result, jurisdiction is unlikely over Stevens as an individual.

No. 69413-8-I (Slip Op. at 4, 6) (citations omitted; emphasis added). The panel agreed that the trial court had committed probable error in asserting

jurisdiction over Mr. Stevens in claims arising from Mr. Mika's injuries. Id. at 6.

#### IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Mika asserts both general and specific jurisdiction. Specific jurisdiction relates to the cause of action arising out of defendant's activities in the forum. General jurisdiction allows the court to hear cases unrelated to defendant's activities in the forum. Mr. Mika failed to put forth evidence, as he must, to establish a prima facie case that Mr. Stevens, personally, meets the minimum contacts for jurisdiction in Washington.

The trial court erred in failing to grant an order of dismissal to Mr. Stevens and his marital community for lack of personal jurisdiction. Mr. Mika cannot show that Mr. Stevens is subject to the jurisdiction of this court under the Long-arm statute or theories of general or specific jurisdiction. Mr. Stevens is not a resident of this state, and the voluminous written record shows no act by which Mr. Stevens purposefully availed himself of the privilege of conducting activities within Washington State, and thus evoking the benefits and protections of its laws. *Oertel v. Bradford Trust Co.*, 33 Wn. App. 331, 337, 655 P.2d 1165 (1982). Further, Mr. Stevens did not stand in the shoes of JBC of Seattle or JBC Entertainment. *Huebner v. Sales Promotion, Inc.*, 38 Wn. App. 66, 70-71,

684 P.2d 752 (1984)("The requirements of *International Shoe* must be met as to each defendant.").

Respondent's allegations are that he suffered a gunshot wound while at Jillian's on March 21, 2010. Among other allegations, he asserts that Mr. Stevens was responsible for security at Jillian's Billiards Club on the night in question. However, despite ample opportunity to make a record establishing this allegation, Mr. Mika failed to do so. A local manger, Michael Knudsen, was responsible for controlling and operating Jillian's on the night in question. Mr. Stevens was CEO and CFO of JBC Entertainment, a parent company of Jillian's Billiards Club, with no onsite management responsibility. Further, he was a resident of Kentucky before moving to Reno, Nevada. At no time was he a resident of Washington State, and his contacts with the State of Washington were sporadic at best.

### V. ARGUMENT

A. Mr. Stevens, as a resident of Kentucky and then Arizona, has a due process right not to be subject to the jurisdiction of the courts in the State of Washington.

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