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

IV. ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERROR IN DENYING
STEVENS MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT
BECAUSE THE JURISDICTION OF THE WASHINGTON
COURT PROPERLY EXTENDS TO DEFENDANT STEVENS

In response to defendant Stevens' claim that the trial court erred in

denying his summary judgment motion, the Plaintiff, Jackson Mika argues

that the court did not error in denying the defendant's motion for summary

judgment.4 The Plaintiff argues that Washington Court's may

appropriately exercise personal jurisdiction over Greg Stevens because he

was not merely a CEO/CFO ofJBC Entertainment as he claimed during his

depositions and pleadings before this court, Stevens was actually the

majority owner ofJBC Entertainment Holdings and he, along with Gemini,

The trial judge stated that that the Plaintiff, byexpert opinion in the form ofanaffidavit
by Dr Daniel Kennedy, (CP 568, 569) had committed atortious act outside ofWashington
that had impact within the State ofWashington, therefore, the court could properly
exercise jurisdiction over Mr. Stevens. That record isnot before this court, the defendant
elected tonot to include a Report ofProceedings inhis pleadings to this court.



negotiated and eventuallysold Jillian's of Seattle a Washington State

Corporation to Gameworks.

Contrary to what has been presented to this court in the Appellant's

Motion for Discretionary Review and Opening Brief, Stevens was not

merely an employee/corporate officerof JBC Entertainment Holdings, the

corporate owner of JBC of Seattle, he was the Chief Executive Officer

(CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and the majority owner who

participated in the negotiation and sale of Jillian's of Seattle, an asset

located in Washington State.

Stevens testified during both his depositions that he was merely an

employee of JBC Entertainment. It is now known that Stevens was the

majority owner of JBC Entertainment and that it was in this capacity that

he was involved in negotiations and eventual "post-tort" sale of Jillian's of

Seattle.

Matthew Keis of Gemini testified that Stevens was the majority

owner of JBC Entertainment and that he was a principal in negotiating and

finalizing the Asset Purchase Agreement by which Jillian's of Seattle a

Washington state corporation was sold, along with other JBC

Entertainment properties to Gameworks.



Specific Jurisdiction

The specific jurisdiction requirements are satisfied if; 1. the

nonresident defendant or foreign corporationpurposefully does some act or

consummate some transaction in the forum state (or commits an act outside

the State that contemplates a phase occurring within this State); 2. the cause

of action must arise from, or be connected with, such act or transaction;

and, 3. the assumption ofjurisdiction by the forum state must not offend

traditional notions of fair play and substantialjustice. CTVC ofHawaii,

Co., Ltd. v. Shinawatra, 82 Wn. App. 699, 709-10, 919 P.2d 1243, 1249

(1996) modified, 932 P.2d 664 (Wn. App. 1997)

1. Purposeful Availment

To satisfy the first factor, a plaintiffmust establish a mere prima

facie showing ofpurposeful availment. Purposeful availment may be

established by a nonresident defendant's act of doing business in

Washington. CTVC ofHawaii, Co., Ltd. v. Shinawatra, 82 Wn. App. 699,

711, 919 P.2d 1243, 1250 (1996) modified, 932 P.2d 664 (Wn. Ct. App.

1997) In addition, the plaintiff may meet the burden of establishing

purposeful availment by showing the initiation of a transaction outside the

state "in contemplation that some phase of it will take place in the forum

state." CTVC, 82 Wn. App. at 711, 919 P.2d 1243. SeaHA VN, Ltd. v.



GlitnirBank, 154 Wn. App. 550, 565, 226 P.3d 141, 150 (2010) In this

case, Stevens initiated the sale of an in state asset out of state with the

intent that Jillian's of Seattle, located in Washington State, would be

conveyed to Gameworks.

In Freestone CapitalPartners L.P. v. MKA RealEstate Opportunity

Fundi, LLC, 155 Wn. App. 643 (2010) the court noted that

"The link connecting the Guarantors to Washington may consist of
affirmative acts outside of Washington in contemplation that some
phase of the contract will take place in Washington. Although the
Guarantors executed the guarantees in California, they acted in
anticipation that they might become liable for MKA's debts to
Freestone. Both the loans and the guarantees are payable to
Freestone's Washington offices.

Freestone Capital Partners L.P. v. MKA Real Estate Opportunity Fund I,

LLC, 155 Wn. App. 643, 654-55, 230 P.3d 625, 630-31 (2010)

In the case at bar, Stevens acted affirmatively outside this state, to

enter into an Asset Purchase Agreement in anticipation that Jillians of

Seattle, a Washington Corporation, would be conveyed to Gameworks.

The Plaintiff concurs that for the State of Washington to acquire

jurisdiction, Stevens, not merely JBC Entertainment, must have personal

contacts with the state. However, in this case, Stevens intentionally

neglected to mention during either of his depositions, and in his pleadings

before this court his material personal contacts, that he was the majority



owner of JBC Entertainment, and it was in that capacity, as "owner", that

he and Gemini negotiated and sold Jillian's of Seattle, a nightclub located in

Washington State, to Gameworks.

The Plaintiff acknowledges that mere execution of a contract with a

state resident alone is not sufficient to fulfill the "purposeful act"

requirement. Precision Laboratory, 96 Wn .App. at 727, 96 Wn. App.

1007, 981 P.2d 454; MBMFisheries, 60 Wn .App. at 423, 804 P.2d 627

Raymond v. Robinson, 104 Wash. App. 627, 638, 15 P.3d 697, 702 (2001)

But in this case, there was more than the execution of a contract; a

corporation and local business located in Washington State was negotiated

for and conveyed by Stevens and Gemini to an out of state corporation.

With respect to purposeful availment, the fact that Stevens sold

Jillian's of Seattle as majority owner and not as a mere CEO/CFO changes

significantly the jurisdictional analysis. As a consequence, Plaintiff, due to

Steven's specious omissions, did not have the opportunity to argue, nor did

the trial court have the opportunity to consider "purposeful availment" with

respect to Stevens as the majority owner who "post-tort" sold an asset

located in Washington State.

To make a proper analysis of a jurisdictional issue such as this, the

trial court should have the opportunity to evaluate prior negotiations,



contemplated future consequences, the terms of the contract, and the

parties' actual course of dealing. (See CTVC ofHawaii, Co., Ltd. v.

Shinawatra, 82 Wn. App. 699, 711, 919 P.2d 1243, 1250 (1996)) modified,

932 P.2d 664 (Wn. Ct. App. 1997) Material evidence related to these

factors are not before this appellate court.

The Mika vJBC et. al. case has been transferred to another Superior

Court Judge. The acquiring judge heard and granted Gemini's and

Gameworks' motions for Summary Judgment. However, thenewly

assigned court below found that jurisdiction could be extended to these

defendants because of their role in the sale of an asset which was located in

Washington State.5

There was only one transaction conveying Jillians of Seattle. Under

the specific jurisdiction analysis, jurisdiction can be founded solely on one

purposeful contact with Washington State, as long as the cause of action

arose from that contact and the assertion of jurisdictionwould be

reasonable. Langlois v. Deja Vu, Inc., 984 F. Supp. 1327, 1333 (W.D.

Wash. 1997), Helicopteros Nacionales de Colombia, S.A. v. Hall, 466 U.S.

408, 104 S.Ct. 1868, 80 L.Ed.2d 404 (1984); Doe v. Am. Nt'lRed Cross,

5Report ofProceedings is attached as Appendix B; ER 201, ; In re Adoption ofB.T.. 150
Wn.2d 409, 415, 98 P.3d 634 (2003)

10



112 F.3d 1048, 1052 n. 7(9th Cir. 1997) Wells Fargo &Co. v. Wells Fargo

Express Co., 556 F.2d 406, 415 (9th Cir. 1977).

2. Cause of Action

The second prong requires that the cause ofaction must arise from,

orbeconnected with, such act or transaction. In this case, it is axiomatic

that the asset Stevens conveyed "post-tort" to Gameworks is the situs of the

negligence and consequent injury to the Plaintiff. This prong is met.

3. Fair Play

Stevens as majority owner ofJBC Entertainment, not merely

CEO/CFO, sold Jillian's ofSeattle to another corporation, "purposefully

availed [him]selfofthe privilege ofconducting activities within this State,

invoking the benefits and protections of our laws." 6

An objective test is used to determine jurisdiction: Should the

defendant, based upon his contact with the forum state, reasonably

anticipate, expect, being haled into court there. Huebner v. Sales

Promotion, Inc., 38 Wn.App. 66, 684 P.2d 752 (1984). The focus oflong-

arm statute's inquiry into whether the defendant purposefully availed itself

ofthe privilege ofconducting activities within the state is ofthe quality and

6Raymond v. Robinson, 104 Wn App 627, 637, 15 Pac. 3rd 697 (2001

11



nature of the defendant's activities in the state, rather than the number of

acts within the state or some other mechanical standard, but the activity

level need not reach the level required to establish general jurisdiction.

Raymond v. Robinson, 104 Wn. App. 627, 15 P.3d 697 (2001) Surely, the

nature of selling off an asset in this state that was the situs of the injuries to

the plaintiff is sufficient to justify being haled into Washington courts.

Subsequent to Stevens' depositions, Motion for Summary

Judgment, and his filing a Motion for Discretionary Review before this

court, codefendant Gemini's 30 (b)(6) witness testified during his

deposition in January 2013, that Gemini owned only 40% of JBC

Entertainment, Alpha Investors owned 11 %. He added that Greg Stevens,

the majority owner of JBC Entertainment, owned 49% of shares and that

Stevens played a role in the negotiations and eventual sale of a corporate

asset located in Washington State.

Ironically, had this court not stricken the oral argument set for

January 4, 2013, Stevens may have succeeded in his deception and

misdirection, and this court could have rendered an opinion on whether the

trial court's committed error based on Stevens' deceptive testimony, as did

the trial court.

12



The Plaintiffs arguments and briefing at summary judgment, in

opposition to Steven's Motion for Discretionary Review, and the trial

court's decision with respect to jurisdiction was based on Stevens' material

and intentional false testimony that he was merely a CEO/CFOemployee

ofJBC Entertainment. Consequently, the trial court's order denying

Stevens' motion to dismiss for lack ofjurisdiction was issued without the

significant and material fact that Stevens was the majority owner of JBC

Entertainment, not merely the CEO/CFO, who after being sued by the

Plaintiff, negotiated for and sold Jillian's of Seattle.

The Plaintiff should have the opportunity to litigate the issue of

jurisdiction before the trial court with this newly discovered material

evidence.

Gemini's Motion for Summary Judgment was granted, however,

Gemini's Motion for Attorney's Fees based on a lack ofjurisdiction was

denied by the Superior court because of Gemini's role as seller in the asset

purchase of Jillian's of Seattle. [CP 919]

Likewise, Gameworks moved the court to find a lack of

jurisdiction. Gameworks motion for the court to find a lack ofjurisdiction

was granted but to award attorney fees was denied because of GameWorks

13



role in the sale of theJillian's of Seattle, an asset located in Washington

state. [CP 923]

"Purposeful availment analysis examines whether the defendant's

contacts with the forum are attributable to his own actionsor are solely the

actions of the plaintiff." Sinatra v. NationalEnquirer, 854 F.2d 1191, 1195

(9th Cir.1988). To show purposeful availment, a plaintiff must show that

the defendant"engage[d] in some form of affirmative conduct allowing or

promoting the transaction of business within the forum state." Gray & Co.

v. FirstenbergMachinery Co., 913 F.2d 758, 760 (9th Cir.1990) The

Plaintiff has made such a showing.

The Long Arm Statute

Washington Revised Code § 4.28.185 provides;

(1) Any person, whether or not a citizen or resident of this state, who in
person or through an agent does any of the acts in this section enumerated,
thereby submits said person, and, if an individual, his or her personal
representative, to the jurisdiction of the courts of this state as to any cause
of action arising from the doing of any of said acts:
(a) The transaction of any business within this state;
(b) The commission of a tortious act within this state;
(c) The ownership, use, or possession of any property whether real or
personal situated in this state; (EMPHASIS ADDED)

Analysis ofjurisdiction under the Washington long-arm statute

involves two issues: (1) does the statutory language purport to extend

14



jurisdiction, and (2) would imposing jurisdiction violate constitutional

principles. Grange Ins. Assoc, v. Idaho, 110 Wn..2d 752, 756, 757 P.2d 933

(1988). Under the long-arm statute, Washington courts may assert

jurisdiction over nonresident individuals and foreign corporations to the

extent permitted by due process requirements, except where limitedby the

terms of the statute. Werner v. Werner, 84 Wn..2d 360, 364, 526 P.2d 370

(1974). In the context of this case, the statutory and constitutional standards

merge into a single due process test. Shute v. Carnival Cruise Lines, 863

F.2d 1437 (9th Cir. 1988).

To evaluate whether long-arm jurisdiction exists, courts examine

three factors: (1) whether the party purposefully committed some act or

consummated some transaction in the state; (2) whether the cause of action

arose from, or was connected with, the act or transaction; and (3) whether

the exercise ofjurisdiction would offend traditional notions of fair play and

substantial justice, with the focus being on the quality and nature of the act

occurring within the forum state. Bartusch v. Oregon State Bd. ofHigher

Educ. 131 W. App. 298, 126 P.3d 840 (2006)

In this case, Stevens purposively negotiated and sold a Washington

State corporate asset to an out-of-state corporation. The exercise of

jurisdiction based on the negotiation and sale of Jillian's of Seattle, a

15



Washington Corporation, would not offend traditional notions of fair play

and substantial justice. Rather, jurisdiction in this case extended to Mr.

Stevens celebrates the traditional notions of fair play and substantial

justice.

Exercise ofjurisdiction, under the long-arm statute, must not offend

traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice in light of the quality,

nature, and extent of the defendant's activity in the state, the relative

convenience of the parties, the benefits and protection of the laws afforded

the respective parties, and the basic equities of the situation. Raymond v.

Robinson (2001) 104 Wn. App. 627, 15 P.3d 697

It was intent of the legislature, in enacting this statute, to assert

jurisdiction of courts of this state over nonresident defendant to extent

permitted by due process clause of Federal Constitution, except as limited

by terms of the statute. Tyee Const. Co. v. Dulien Steel Products, Inc., of

Wn. (1963) 62 Wn.2d 106, 381 P.2d 245.

Importantly, and most germane to defendant Stevens, this statute is

to be liberally applied to obviate mischief intended to be remedied by it.

Harrison v. Puga AWn.App. 52, 480 P.2d 247. (1971) Moreover, the

Long-arm jurisdiction standards are less stringent than those necessary to

16



establish general jurisdiction. Bartusch v. Oregon State Bd. ofHigher

Educ. (2006) 131 Wn. App. 298, 126 P.3d 840.

The touchstone of constitutional validity of RCW 4.28.185 is

whether defendant's contacts in Washington in the transaction of the

business involved are sufficiently substantial to show that he has

undertaken 'some act by which the defendant purposefully avails itself of

the privilege of conducting activities within the forum State, thus invoking

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